**FILED** 

MAR 31, 2014

Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington

#### No. 31940-7-III

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION III

STATE OF WASHINGTON,
Plaintiff/Respondent,

VS.

GRANT W. SCANTLING,
Defendant/Appellant.

# APPEAL FROM THE BENTON COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT Honorable Robert G. Swisher, Judge

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

Jill S. Reuter, WSBA No. 38374 Of Counsel David N. Gasch, WSBA No. 18270 Gasch Law Office P.O. Box 30339 Spokane, WA 99223-3005 (509) 443-9149

## **

#### A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court erred in allowing evidence of a prior assault contrary to ER 404(b).
- The trial court erred in allowing evidence of threats made by Mr. Scantling to Palmer.
- 3. Mr. Scantling was denied his constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel, when his attorney failed to object to the admission of the handwritten letters found in Mr. Scantling's residence and the evidence regarding the March 19, 2013 incident.
- 4. The prosecutor committed misconduct in opening and closing arguments by improperly appealing to the jury's passions and prejudices, and by stating his personal belief about the credibility of a witness.
- The record does not support the implied finding that Mr.
   Scantling has the current or future ability to pay Legal Financial
   Obligations.
  - 6. The trial court erred by imposing discretionary costs.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

- 1. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in allowing evidence of a prior assault of Palmer by Mr. Scantling, contrary to ER 404(b)?
- 2. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in allowing evidence of threats made by Mr. Scantling to Palmer?
- 3. Was Mr. Scantling denied his constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel, when his attorney failed to object to the admission of the handwritten letters found in Mr. Scantling's residence and the evidence regarding the March 19, 2013 incident?
- 4. Did the prosecutor commit misconduct in opening and closing arguments by improperly appealing to the jury's passions and prejudices, and by stating his personal belief about the credibility of a witness?
- 5. Should the directive to pay Legal Financial Obligations based on an implied finding of current or future ability to pay them be stricken from the Judgment and Sentence as clearly erroneous, where the finding is not supported in the record?
- 6. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in imposing discretionary costs where it did not take Mr. Scantling's financial resources into account, nor consider the burden it would impose on him, as required by RCW 10.01.160?

#### **B.** STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Grant Scantling and Ann Marie Krebs lived together in Kennewick with their two children and Krebs' son from a previous relationship. 2 RP 128-129, 208-209, 211, 223-225. Two other men, Michael Billado and Franklin Palmer, occasionally stayed at their residence. 2 RP 129-130, 208, 225. Around Thanksgiving 2012, Mr. Scantling moved out of the Kennewick residence, to Spokane. 1 RP 319-321, 338-339; 2 RP 129, 208, 226.

On March 21, 2013, Krebs went to sleep with her three children in her bed. 2 RP 209-210, 229. Billado and Palmer were also at the residence. 2 RP 130-131, 140, 229-230, 245.

The next morning Krebs awoke to a loud crash and saw broken glass; the sliding glass door in her bedroom had been broken. 2 RP 131-132, 142, 210-211, 231-233. She then saw Mr. Scantling. 2 RP 211, 233. Mr. Scantling confronted Krebs. 2 RP 211, 233-234. He fired a gunshot towards the bedroom door and the adjacent hallway. 2 RP 213, 234-235. Mr. Scantling left the bedroom and went into the hallway. 2 RP 234-236. Krebs saw Palmer fall to the ground in the hallway. 2 RP 236.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Report of Proceedings consists of seven volumes. Two consecutively paginated volumes, reported by Cheryl A. Pelletier, are referred to as "1 RP" herein. Three consecutively paginated volumes, reported by Lisa S. Lang, are referred to as "2 RP" herein. References to the other volumes include the date.

According to Krebs, "[w]hen [Palmer] fell, I saw [Mr. Scantling] walk up over him . . . and shoot him again . . . ." 2 RP 236-237. Krebs' son testified he heard three gun shots; the first one while Mr. Scantling was in the bedroom, and the next two when Mr. Scantling was in the hallway. 2 RP 212-214. Palmer died as a result of multiple gunshot wounds. 2 RP 81.

Law enforcement officers obtained a search warrant for Mr. Scantling's residence in Spokane. 1 RP 372. Inside the officers found several handwritten letters written by Mr. Scantling. 1 RP 373-383; State's Exs. 20, 21, 22.

The State charged Mr. Scantling with one count of first degree burglary and one count of aggravated premeditated first degree murder.

CP 3-4. The case proceeded to a jury trial. 1 RP 243-436; 2 RP 56-441.

In its opening statement, the State told the jury:

Our role in this case is to seek justice. And we'll hear the evidence that will give you the tools to come back with a verdict that will give justice to [Mr.] Palmer and give justice to our community. And that verdict will be that [Mr. Scantling] is guilty.

1 RP 255.

The State also read from the letters found in Mr. Scantling's residence in Spokane. 1 RP 254-255.

The State moved to admit evidence of a prior assault of Palmer by Mr. Scantling through the testimony of Billado pursuant to ER 404(b). CP 37-41; RP (Aug. 28, 2013) 70-71; 2 RP 156-172. The State argued the evidence was admissible to show absence of mistake or accident, motive, disposition, and the relationship between Mr. Scantling and Palmer. CP 37-41; 2 RP 157, 166-167, 170-171. The State also argued the evidence was admissible to rebut Mr. Scantling's self-defense claim. 2 RP 166. However, Mr. Scantling did not argue self-defense at trial. 2 RP 369.

Mr. Scantling objected to the admission of the evidence of the prior assault. CP 42-55; 2 RP 156-159, 167-168, 171-172. In an offer of proof Billado stated that Mr. Scantling hit Palmer and then made comments to Palmer about sleeping with Krebs. 2 RP 162-163. However, Billado later admitted Mr. Scantling did not actually make those comments, but that he, Billado, knew that Palmer was sleeping with Krebs. 2 RP 165. Mr. Scantling argued the evidence was inadmissible, because it was only speculation what the two men were arguing about. 2 RP 167. Mr. Scantling also argued there was no domestic relationship between himself and Palmer, and no pattern of abuse. 2 RP 167-168.

The trial court ruled the evidence was admissible, stating that the prior assault was relevant, even without self-defense, based on the representations made by the State. 2 RP 161-165, 169-170, 172-173.

Billado testified that sometime around Christmas, he saw Mr.

Scantling hit Palmer, at the Kennewick residence. 2 RP 173-174, 176,

179, 181. Billado testified Mr. Scantling "came barging through the door upset[,]" and the two men got into a confrontation. 2 RP 175, 179-181.

He testified Mr. Scantling told Palmer to leave the house. 2 RP 176.

Billado did not testify regarding a reason for the confrontation. 2 RP 175-176. He testified "[n]ot knowing what was going on, I opened my eyes and I shut my eyes. It's none of my business." 2 RP 179.

Krebs testified that on March 19, 2013, three days before the shooting, Mr. Scantling came to the Kennewick residence. 2 RP 227-228, 243-244. The last time she saw Mr. Scantling prior to this visit was around New Year's Eve. 2 RP 228, 243. Krebs stated that when she saw Mr. Scantling at the door "I freaked out, and I slammed the door in his face." 2 RP 243. She testified she was scared at the time. 2 RP 243. Krebs testified she texted him later that night. 2 RP 243. Defense counsel did not object to this testimony or to Krebs' son testifying about Mr. Scantling coming to the residence on March 19, 2013. 2 RP 218-220, 227-228, 243-244.

On cross-examination, defense counsel asked Krebs if Mr.

Scantling responded to her text messages sent between March 19th and

March 22nd, and she said "no." 2 RP 245. Krebs testified Mr. Scantling

was texting her before that time. 2 RP 246. Defense counsel questioned Krebs regarding these text messages:

[Defense counsel:] Okay. And none of the texts that he sent you were threatening [Palmer] in any way? [Krebs:] No.

[Defense counsel:] None of them said, "I'm going to kill [Palmer]"?

[Krebs:] No, not at all.

2 RP 246

On re-direct, over Mr. Scantling's objection the State sought to ask Krebs if Mr. Scantling ever made any threats against Palmer to her. The State argued defense counsel had opened the door to this questioning by asking Krebs if Mr. Scantling had ever texted any threats. 2 RP 247-249. The trial court ruled defense counsel had opened the door, and allowed the questioning. 2 RP 249. The State proceeded with its re-direct:

[The State:] . . . Ms. Krebs, do you remember you were just asked a couple minutes ago whether or not the defendant had texted you anything about threatening [Palmer]; do you remember that?

[Krebs:] Yes.

[The State:] Let's forget about the texts. Were there any times when the defendant threatened [Palmer] in a conversation with you?

[Krebs:] Let me - - yes is the answer, but I mean I can't remember exactly when.

[The State:] Okay.

[Krebs:] A couple weeks before.

[The State:] Tell us what he said.

[Krebs:] He just said that he was going to kick his butt, basically, I guess.

[The State:] And was this before - - did you ever tell [Mr.] Scantling that you had at least some sort of romantic or physical relationship with [Palmer]?

[Krebs:] At one time I did, and I told him that after we broke up.

[The State:] And was the defendant's threat to kick [Palmer's] butt, was it before or after you told that to [Mr. Scantling]?

[Krebs:] It was after.

[The State:] Okay. And was that an in-person conversation or how did that conversation - -

[Krebs:] It was in person.

#### 2 RP 249-250.

The State admitted into evidence, and a witness read to the jury, the handwritten letters found in Mr. Scantling's residence in Spokane. 1 RP 373-383; State's Exs. 20, 21, 22. The letters discuss Krebs and their children, and what happened when Mr. Scantling went to the Kennewick residence on March 19. 1 RP 373-383; State's Exs. 20, 21, 22. The letters do not mention Palmer or Billado. 1 RP 373-383; State's Exs. 20, 21, 22. Defense counsel did not object to the admission of the letters. 1 RP 373-384.

The State also admitted into evidence, and played for the jury, Mr. Scantling's taped interview given to law enforcement on the day of the shooting. 2 RP 261-263. The interview discusses Mr. Scantling coming to Krebs' residence on March 19, 2013. 2 RP 169, 261-263. Defense counsel did not object to the admission of the interview. 2 RP 263.

The trial court instructed the jury that in order to find Mr.

Scantling guilty of first degree murder, it had to find:

- (1) That on or about the 22<sup>nd</sup> day of March, 2013, [Mr. Scantling] acted with intent to cause the death of another person;
- (2) That the intent to cause the death was premeditated;
- (3) That . . . Palmer died as a result of [Mr. Scantling's] acts; and
- (4) That any of these acts occurred in the State of Washington.

#### CP 135.

In closing argument, the prosecutor apologized for showing the jury pictures of Palmer, and referred to them as "sad, gruesome pictures." 2 RP 396. The prosecutor also argued the following regarding the testimony of Krebs' son:

[Krebs' son] was not on that stand lying. If you talk about any kid that is nervous and not taking sides but just wants to tell the truth, that's [Krebs' son]. But think about kids that you know, and think about kids who see their mom scared. Is that something a kid is going to lie about?

#### 2 RP 404.

The prosecutor argued that a man that cares about his kids does not take the actions that Mr. Scantling took on the day of the shooting. 2 RP 405-406. The prosecutor then asked the jury, "[w]hat message is [Mr. Scantling] giving his kids?" 2 RP 406. Mr. Scantling objected to this argument, and the trial court overruled the objection. 2 RP 406.

The prosecutor told the jury, "[t]his trial is seeking justice for . . . Palmer, for our community, and to hold [Mr. Scantling] accountable." 2 RP 410.

The prosecutor also referenced and read portions of the letters found in Mr. Scantling's residence in Spokane. 2 RP 390, 407-409. While reading from the letters, the prosecutor argued "[t]his was a premeditated act." 2 RP 408.

In his closing argument, defense counsel argued that the letters found in Mr. Scantling's residence in Spokane "are not evidence of premeditation for killing . . . Palmer." 2 RP 419-420. Defense counsel argued the letters were prejudicial, and only admitted into evidence to make the jury not like Mr. Scantling. 2 RP 419-420.

On rebuttal the prosecutor mentioned the prior assault of Palmer by Mr. Scantling. 2 RP 435.

The jury found Mr. Scantling guilty as charged. CP 144-147; 2 RP 445-446. At sentencing, the trial court imposed discretionary costs of \$24,967.73<sup>2</sup>, and mandatory costs of \$6,036<sup>3</sup>, for a total Legal Financial Obligation (LFO) of \$31,003.73. CP 150, 156; RP (Sept. 19, 2013) 5-6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> \$100 Clerk's Fee for FTA Warrants; \$125 Sherriff's Service Fee; \$250 Jury Demand Fee; \$449.73 Witness Fees; \$6,435 Attorney's Fees; and \$17,608 Special Costs Reimbursement.CP 156; RP (Sept. 19, 2013) 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> \$200 Filing Fee, \$500 Victim Assessment, \$100 DNA collection fee, and \$5,236 in restitution. CP 150, 156; RP (Sept. 19, 2013) 5-6.

The trial court made no express finding that Mr. Scantling had the present or future ability to pay the LFOs. CP 147-156; RP (Sept. 19, 2013) 2-7.

The Judgment and Sentence contains the following language:

#### 2.5 ABILITY TO PAY LEGAL FINANCIAL

**OBLIGATIONS.** The court has considered the total amount owing, the defendant's past, present and future ability to pay legal financial obligations, including the defendant's financial resources and the likelihood that the defendant's status will change.

CP 149.

The trial court did not inquire into Mr. Scantling's financial resources, and the nature of the burden that payment of LFOs would impose. RP (Sept. 19, 2013) 2-7. The trial court ordered Mr. Scantling to make monthly payments as follows:

[X] The defendant shall pay up to \$50.00 per month to be taken from any income the defendant earns while in the custody of the Department of Corrections. This money is to be applied towards legal financial obligations.

CP 151.

Mr. Scantling appealed. CP 157.

#### C. ARGUMENT

1. The trial court abused its discretion in allowing evidence of an assault of Palmer by Mr. Scantling, contrary to ER 404(b).

Evidence of prior misconduct is not admissible to show a defendant had a propensity to engage in such conduct:

Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith. It may, however, be admissible for other purposes, such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident.

ER 404(b).

In order to admit evidence under ER 404(b), the trial court must follow four steps: "(1) find by a preponderance of the evidence that the misconduct occurred, (2) identify the purpose for which the evidence is sought to be introduced, (3) determine whether the evidence is relevant to prove an element of the crime charged, and (4) weigh the probative value against the prejudicial effect." *State v. Foxhoven*, 161 Wn.2d 168, 174, 163 P.3d 786 (2007) (quoting *State v. Thang*, 145 Wn.2d 630, 642, 41 P.3d 1159 (2002)). "This analysis must be conducted on the record." *Id.* (citing *State v. Smith*, 106 Wn.2d 772, 776, 725 P.2d 951 (1986)). "In doubtful cases, the evidence should be excluded." *Thang*, 145 Wn.2d at 642 (citing *Smith*, 106 Wn.2d at 776).

The trial court's interpretation of ER 404(b) is reviewed de novo. *State v. Fisher*, 165 Wn.2d 727, 745, 202 P.3d 937 (2009) (citing *Foxhoven*, 161 Wn.2d at 174). If the trial court correctly interprets the rule, its decision to admit evidence under ER 404(b) is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Id.* (citing *Foxhoven*, 161 Wn.2d at 174). "A trial

court abuses its discretion where it fails to abide by the rule's requirements." *Id.* (citing *Foxhoven*, 161 Wn.2d at 174). In addition, "[d]iscretion is abused if it is exercised on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons." *Thang*, 145 Wn.2d at 642 (citing *State ex rel. Carroll v. Junker*, 79 Wn.2d 12, 26, 482 P.2d 775 (1971)).

Here, the State moved to admit evidence, pursuant to ER 404(b), of a prior assault of Palmer by Mr. Scantling, through the testimony of Billado. CP 37-41; RP (Aug. 28, 2013) 70-71; 2 RP 156-172. Mr. Scantling objected. CP 42-55; 2 RP 156-159, 167-168, 171-172. The trial court ruled the evidence was admissible. 2 RP 161-165, 169-170, 172-173. Billado testified that sometime around Christmas, he saw Mr. Scantling hit Palmer, at the Kennewick residence. 2 RP 173-174, 176, 179, 181. However, Billado did not testify regarding a reason for the confrontation (2 RP 175-176, 179) and the trial court did not determine whether the evidence was relevant to prove an element of the charged crimes. 2 RP 161-165, 169-170, 172-173; see also Foxhoven, 161 Wn.2d at 174 (citing *Thang*, 145 Wn.2d at 642). The trial court also failed to weigh the probative value of the evidence against its prejudicial effect. 2 RP 161-165, 169-170, 172-173; see also Foxhoven, 161 Wn.2d at 174 (citing *Thang*, 145 Wn.2d at 642).

The prejudicial effect of the evidence of the prior assault of Palmer by Mr. Scantling outweighs its probative value. There was no evidence presented as to why this assault occurred. 2 RP 175-176, 179. Without further details regarding the reason for the altercation, the fact that Mr. Scantling struck Palmer on a prior occasion is not probative of a motive to kill Palmer, or of premeditated intent to do so. Furthermore, any probative value is outweighed by the prejudice generated by the evidence--that Mr. Scantling is violent person and therefore acted in conformity with this trait at the time of the shooting. Under these circumstances evidence of the prior assault of Palmer by Mr. Scantling was more prejudicial than probative.

This error was exacerbated by the State's mention of the prior assault of Palmer by Mr. Scantling in its rebuttal closing argument. 2 RP 435; *see also Thang*, 145 Wn.2d at 645 (finding the potential prejudice of evidence admitted under ER 404(b) outweighed its probative value, based in part upon the mention of the evidence in the State's closing argument). Therefore, evidence of the prior assault should have been excluded by the trial court under ER 404(b). The trial court abused its discretion by failing to follow the rule's requirements. *See Fisher*, 165 Wn.2d at 745 (citing *Foxhoven*, 161 Wn.2d at 174).

Not harmless error. "Evidentiary errors under ER 404 are not of constitutional magnitude." State v. Jackson, 102 Wn.2d 689, 695, 689 P.2d 76 (1984). Therefore, such errors are not harmless when, "within reasonable probabilities . . . the outcome of the trial would have been different if the error had not occurred." Id. (citing State v. Robtoy, 98 Wn.2d 30, 44, 653 P.2d 284 (1982)); see also State v. Thach, 126 Wn. App. 297, 311, 106 P.3d 782 (2005) (stating this harmless error standard).

Here, the error in admitting the ER 404(b) evidence was not harmless. The evidence that Mr. Scantling acted with premeditated intent to cause the death of another person was not overwhelming. Accordingly, Mr. Scantling's convictions should be reversed and the case remanded for a new trial.

2. The trial court abused its discretion in allowing evidence of threats made by Mr. Scantling to Palmer.

Under the "open door" rule, if one party raises a material issue, the opposing party is generally permitted to "explain, clarify, or contradict the evidence." *State v. Berg,* 147 Wn. App. 923, 939, 198 P.3d 529 (2008) *abrogated on other grounds by State v. Mutch,* 171 Wn.2d 646, 254 P.3d 803 (2011) (citing *State v. Price,* 126 Wn. App. 617, 109 P.3d 27 (2005)); *see also Ang v. Martin,* 118 Wn. App. 553, 562, 76 P.3d 787 (2003). The rationale for the rule is as follows:

This is the long-recognized rule that when a party opens up a subject of inquiry, that party "contemplates that the rules will permit cross-examination or redirect examination . . . within the scope of the examination in which the subject matter was first introduced." Otherwise, "[t]o close the door after receiving only a part of the evidence not only leaves the matter suspended in air at a point markedly advantageous to the party who opened the door, but might well limit the proof to half-truths."

Id. (alterations in original) (quoting State v. Gefeller, 76 Wn.2d 449, 455, 458 P.2d 17 (1969)).

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