FILED

JUL 22, 2014

Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington

NO. 319407-III

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

v.

GRANT WAYNE SCANTLING, Appellant

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR BENTON COUNTY

NO. 13-1-00336-1

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ANDY MILLER Prosecuting Attorney for Benton County

ANDY MILLER, Prosecuting Attorney BAR NO. 10817 OFFICE ID 91004 JULIE E. LONG, Deputy Prosecuting Attorney BAR NO. 28276 OFFICE ID 91004

7122 West Okanogan Place Bldg. A Kennewick WA 99336 (509) 735-359l

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

The defendant claims that his attorney was ineffective for failing to object to the admission of the letters as irrelevant, or, in the alternative, more prejudicial then probative. (App. Brief at 18). From the outset, it is important to note that the defendant's entire argument is hinged on the letters as they relate to the murder of Mr. Palmer. However, the defendant was not simply on trial for the murder of Franklin Palmer. He was also on trial for the Burglary in the First Degree of Ann Marie Krebs's home. (CP 3). The evidence of the letters, informing the jury of the defendant's state of mind when he unlawfully entered Ms. Krebs's home, was directly relevant to that charge. "A person is guilty of burglary in the first degree if, with intent to commit a crime against a person or property therein, he or she enters or remains unlawfully in a building and if, in entering or while in the building or in immediate flight therefrom, the actor or another participant in the crime (a) is armed with a deadly weapon, or (b) assaults any person." RCW 9A.52.020(1)(a) and (b). The State had to prove that the defendant entered Ms. Krebs's home with the intent of committing a crime against someone inside, or some property inside. The defendant's writings give the jury the clearest possible view of the defendant's intent imaginable.

The letters were incredibly relevant to the crime of Burglary in the First Degree. As a result, they could not have been excluded from the trial. The defendant claims that the evidence portrayed the defendant as a violent person. (App. Brief at 21). The defendant had already been portrayed in that light. He had threatened to attack Mr. Palmer on multiple occasions. (E.g. RP 09/09/2013 at 250). He had physically assaulted Mr. Palmer on an earlier occasion. (RP 09/09/2013 at 162-63). He had broken into his ex-fiancée's home, closed his hand around her neck, pushed a firearm up against her head, and screamed at her. (RP 09/09/2013 at 233-34). He had done this while his children were watching. (RP 09/09/2013 at 229). Finally, he had shot Mr. Palmer not once, but twice, walking up to Mr. Palmer at close range to make sure the second bullet finished him off. (RP 09/09/2013 at 146, 235-36). The prejudice of additional evidence of a violent nature is thus minimal. Compared to the overwhelming probative value of the evidence in regards to his state of mind in going to Ms. Krebs's house on that day, it was in no way ineffective to elect not to challenge the admission of the letters.

4. There was no prosecutorial misconduct.

The defendant argues that multiple statements made by the State during opening and closing constituted misconduct. (App. Brief at 26). The defendant argues not only misconduct, but misconduct so flagrant and

ill-intentioned that no curative instruction, no matter how powerfully worded, could have cleansed it. *State v. Calvin*, 316 P.3d 496, 504 (Wash. Ct. App. 2013), *as amended on reconsideration* (October 22, 2013). The State will address each allegedly illegal statement in turn.

The first statement was reference to justice in the opening and closing statements. In the opening statement, the argument was, "And we'll hear the evidence that will give you the tools to come back with a verdict that will give justice to Franklin Palmer and give justice to our community." (RP 09/05/2013 at 255). In the closing argument: "This trial is seeking justice for Mr. Palmer, for our community, and to hold the defendant accountable." (RP 09/11/2013 at 410). "Urging the jury to render a just verdict that is supported by evidence is not misconduct. Moreover, courts frequently state that a criminal trial's purpose is a search for truth and justice." State v. Curtiss, 161 Wn. App. 673, 701, 250 P.3d 496 (2011). The State was not arguing that the defendant should be convicted against the evidence. The State urged the jury to find the defendant guilty, a just verdict and one that was supported by the evidence. There was no misconduct in doing so, certainly not conduct so flagrant and ill-intentioned that no curative instruction could have fixed it.

The defendant also takes issue with the State referring to some of the pictures as "sad, gruesome pictures." (App. Brief at 25). The fact is that that statement was made in the context of apologizing. There was no incensing rhetoric. Putting the statement in its context makes it clear what purpose it was to serve. ". . . I appreciate your word at the time that you're not going to hold it against us for showing you these sad, gruesome pictures." (RP 09/11/2013 at 396). The State did not argue "Look at the sad, gruesome scene the defendant created!" It was apologizing to the jury for presenting something so disquieting, that an ordinary individual would find upsetting. While emotions may have been aroused, they were aroused by the pictures the State had shown and entered earlier in the case. The State's characterization of the pictures as sad and gruesome was nothing more than an honest and accurate assessment of what they were.

As to the argument that the statement "What message is the defendant giving to his kids" was an attempt to inflame the passions of the jury, the State was attempting to defuse an argument the defendant had set up throughout the trial, that the defendant was just a harried man, who, after being denied seeing his children, snapped. (*E.g.* RP 09/09/2013 at 145). The State clearly expected the closing statement to be in line with that argument, given the amount of foundation the defense had laid for it. The State was responding to allegations made by the defense during the State's case in chief. Furthermore, the State would suggest that there is very little difference here than the remarks in *Berube*. *State v. Berube*,

171 Wn. App. 103, 119, 286 P.3d 402 (2012), review denied, 178 Wn.2d 1002, 308 P.3d 642 (2013).

How sad is it that a mother and a son would go for 13 years without seeing each other? And how happy his mother must have been when he came to see her. And how disappointed must she have been when she learned that he came because he was running from the law?

Id. As the court in Berube stated, "[n]othing of that sort occurred here. The prosecutor used no inflammatory language and introduced no hearsay or new evidence. Berube's mother testified she loved her son, and it was not an unreasonable inference that she would be saddened and disappointed by the circumstances." Id. Without something more, references to the harm the defendant caused members of his family, be they his mother or his children, are not sufficient to find prosecutorial misconduct.

The final argument that the defendant makes is that the State improperly vouched for a witness's credibility by stating "And you saw M.B. M.B. was not on the stand lying. If you talk about any kid that is nervous and not taking sides but just wants to tell the truth, that's M.B." (RP 09/11/2013 at 404) (minor victim's name redacted). "[T]here is a distinction between the individual opinion of the prosecuting attorney, as an independent fact, and an opinion based upon or deduced from the testimony in the case." *State v. McKenzie*, 157 Wn.2d 44, 53, 134 P.3d 221 (2005).

But we will not find prejudicial error unless it is "'clear and unmistakable that counsel is not arguing an inference from the evidence, but is expressing a personal opinion.'" Here, the prosecutor made the "truth of the matter" statement at the end of closing argument, after discussing the State's evidence. When viewed in context of the prosecutor's entire argument, it indicated only an inference from the State's evidence, not a clear statement of personal opinion.

State v. Emery, 161 Wn. App. 172, 192-93, 253 P.3d 413 (2011), aff'd, 174 Wn.2d 741, 278 P.3d 653 (2012) (citations omitted). The State was urging the jury to find M.B.'s testimony credible, based upon the facts he testified to during the trial. The State did not provide any indication that it was the State's own belief that it was pushing the jury to adopt. Rather, it came in the middle of an accounting of why the jury could trust M.B.'s testimony. It was an inference the State argued the jury should adopt, based upon the evidence presented.

Furthermore, the Court has considered the issue of improper vouching like this before:

The State's comment that, "Law enforcement did a great job investigating this case" may have encouraged the jury to infer that law enforcement is credible; but, no party objected. In the context of the total argument, issues of the case, evidence, and jury instructions—even if this comment was improper—Morgan and Parker cannot show that the State's single remark was so flagrant and ill-intentioned that it evinced an incurable, enduring and resulting prejudice. The court instructed the jury that it was the sole credibility judge of each witness and that the attorneys' statements were not evidence. Furthermore, the State informed the jury

that it was to make all credibility determinations. Thus, Morgan and Parker did not preserve this issue.

State v. Embry, 171 Wn. App. 714, 753, 287 P.3d 648 (2012) review denied, 177 Wn.2d 1005, 300 P.3d 416 (2013).

There, as here, the defendant did not take any steps to preserve this issue for review. The jury was informed that they were the sole judges of credibility. (CP 112-13). "Juries are presumed to have followed the trial court's instructions, absent evidence proving the contrary." *State v. Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d 918, 928, 155 P.3d 125 (2007). In the absence of any indications such did not happen, the jury should be presumed to have taken the instruction to heart, and judged M.B.'s credibility, as they were instructed to.

Finally, even if this Court were to find some improper bolstering, the defendant cannot show any prejudice from it. "In a prosecutorial misconduct claim, the defendant bears the burden of proving that the prosecutor's conduct was both improper and prejudicial." *State v. Emery*, 174 Wn.2d 741, 756, 278 P.3d 653 (2012). M.B.'s credibility was never in doubt. The defendant admitted to everything to which M.B. testified. As his counsel put it: "Grant Scantling is absolutelly [sic] guilty. On March 22nd of 2013, he did a number of horrible, horrible things. . . . Grant is guilty of burglary in the first degree. . . . Grant is also guilty of

murder. He is. He is absolutely guilty of murder." (RP 09/11/2012 at 411). The defendant elected to concede everything to which M.B. could testify. His defense was that there was no premeditation, and that, therefore, the defendant was only guilty of Murder in the Second Degree. (RP 09/11/2013 at 412-13). M.B. didn't and couldn't testify to the defendant's mental state. Given that the sole element the defendant wished to keep in contention was something M.B. offered no testimony on, the State fails to see how any alleged bolstering of his testimony in closing could have possibly had an effect on the outcome of the trial.

5. The defendant's argument about the award of costs is not ripe.

Any argument about the defendant's indigent status cannot be considered ripe. The defendant provides no indication that he has ever faced any kind of sanction, or that the State of Washington has ever tried to collect on his Legal Financial Obligations. No documents indicate that there has been any action by the State to collect on these Legal Financial Obligations. The defendant suffers no injury from the imposition of costs and fees until the State attempts to collect on them. As such, only then would the defendant be entitled to a protest about his indigent status. The Court has stated as such: "If in the future repayment will impose a manifest hardship on defendant, or if he is unable, through no fault of his

own, to repay, the statute allows for remission of the costs award." State v. Blank, 131 Wn.2d. 230, 253, 930 P.2d 1213 (1997).

State v. Ziegenfuss is illustrative. 118 Wn. App. 110, 113, 74 P.3d 1205 (2003). In State v. Ziegenfuss, an inmate protested the Department of Corrections' procedure for imposing sanctions upon those who fail to pay their Legal Financial Obligations. *Id.* at 112. The Court stated, in answer to her claims: "Ziegenfuss has not failed to pay the VPA [Victim Penalty Assessment], nor has she been incarcerated or otherwise sanctioned for violating the terms of her community custody. As yet, therefore, she has suffered no harm, and her challenge to the constitutionality of the process in DOC community custody violation hearings is premature." *Id.* at 113.

Another illustrative case is *State v. Crook.* 146 Wn. App. 24, 189 P.3d 811 (2008). There, the defendant appealed an order denying his motion to alleviate him of his financial obligations. *Id.* at 26. The Court's response was: "Inquiry into the defendant's ability to pay is appropriate only when the State enforces collection under the judgment or imposes sanctions for nonpayment; a defendant's indigent status at the time of sentencing does not bar an award of costs." *Id.* at 27.

The defendant has suffered no harm as a result of the imposition of costs. When the State attempts to collect such from him, he will be given

a chance to be heard, and make arguments about his ability to pay. The Court has made it clear: "There is no reason at this time to deny the State's cost request based upon speculation about future circumstances." *Blank*, 131 Wn.2d at 253. When the State attempts to collect, then let him claim indigence. The court will be able to make a determination based upon the best possible evidence.

6. The defendant is not an "aggrieved party" as per RAP 3.1, in terms of his Legal Financial Obligations.

RAP 3.1 states: "Only an aggrieved party may seek review by the appellate court." The defendant is not an aggrieved party. "We have defined 'aggrieved party' as one whose personal right or pecuniary interests have been affected." *State v. Taylor*, 150 Wn.2d 599, 604, 80 P.3d 605 (2003). The courts of this state have stated an individual against whom costs have been assessed, but on which no actions have been taken, is not aggrieved for the purposes of RAP 3.1. *State v. Smits*, 152 Wn. App. 514, 525, 216 P.3d 1097 (2009). The reasons for this are apparent. No pecuniary interests have been impacted by the simple fact that the State has assessed costs the defendant. If and when the State attempts to collect upon the defendant's Legal Financial Obligations, he will then be an aggrieved party, able to petition the court for protection from collection orders.

The simple assessment of costs is not enough to convert a party without a grievance to an aggrieved party. *Id.* While the defendant may not like the fact that costs have been assessed against him, "[a]n aggrieved party is not one whose feelings have been hurt or one who is disappointed over a certain result." *Taylor*, 150 Wn.2d at 603. The only point at which the defendant may challenge the collection of costs despite his indigent status is when the State attempts to collect from him.

7. The defendant waived the issue when he did not raise it before the trial court.

Finally, the defendant failed to raise the issue of his ability to pay his legal financial obligations before the court at sentencing. (RP 09/19/2013). RAP 2.5(a) gives the appellate court the ability to refuse to consider errors not raised before the trial court, provided the errors complained of are not of the following categories: "(1) lack of trial court jurisdiction, (2) failure to establish facts upon which relief can be granted, and (3) manifest error affecting a constitutional right." RAP 2.5(a). "But having come to the conclusion that ability to pay LFOs is not an issue that defendants overlook—it is one that they reasonably waive—we view this as precisely the sort of issue we should decline to consider for the first time on appeal. If a trial court fails to consider ability to pay or enters

an unsupported finding, it is not constitutional error." State v. Duncan,

____ Wn. App. ____, 327 P.3d 699 (2014).

The defendant here stands in similar shoes to Mr. Duncan. He elected not to raise his ability to pay his Legal Financial Obligations before the trial court at his sentencing. There is no evidence, whatsoever, that differentiates the two cases, except the fact that the defendant has been sentenced to Life Without Parole, which, in effect, removes the possibility of prejudice. The defendant will never face the State's attempts to collect from him, because he will never be released from jail, absent some intercession from the legislature, governor, or the courts. The Court should decline to address the Legal Financial Obligations for the first time in this instance as well.

IV. CONCLUSION

The defendant has failed to identify any errors which require remand. Based upon that failure, the State asks this honorable Court to affirm the trial court's decision on all grounds.